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Business Factors, Inc Doc.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEVADA

MERCEDES URBINA CaseNo. 3:17€v-00385WGC
Plaintiff, | ORDER
V. Re:ECF No. 37
NATIONAL BUSINESS FACTORS, INC.
OF NEVADA,
Defendant

Before the court iglaintiff Mercedes Urbina’'s Second Renewed Motion to Ame
Complaint andProposed st AmendedComplaint(FAC). (ECF No. 37) Defendant National
Business Factors, Inc. of Nevada (NBF) filed a response (ECF No. 38)rkind Gled a reply
(ECF No. 39). For the reasons set forth below, Urbina’s motion is granted.

|. BACKGROUND

Urbinafiled her original complaint pursuant to the FBiebt Collection Practices Act
(FDCPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et. seaqn June 20, 2017. (ECF No. Uybina alleged that she
received medical treatment from Tahoe Fracture Clinic, and received a billtemBep23, 2016,
indicating a balance of6#4.52. On January 5, 2017, NB#ich had been assigned collection g
the debt from Tahoe Fracture Clingent her a written demand for payment for $614.52
principal, and $29.07 in accrued intereBte complaintalleged violations ofthe FDCPA, and
specifically,15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692e(2) and § 1692f(1), based on the allegation that Nevada law pr
a medical bill from accruing interest until thirty days after the issuancesxfanation of benefits
(EOB), and theNBF exceeded the allowable legal interest rate.

NBF filed its answer on July 12, 2017, and assertee, alia, an affirmative defense thal
it calculated interest pursuant to Nevada Revised Sti&8)99.040, from the date of Urbina’s

last paymenbn February 26, 2016, through January 5, 2017 (the date of its initial communig
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with Urbina), at the statutory legal rate of 5.5% in 2016 and 5.75% in 2017. (ECF No. 7.)

On August 25, 2017, Urbina filed a motion to amend the complaint, premisetk of
argument that TahoEracture Clinic was a hospital, as the term is useR$ 449.757, and
interest may not accrue until thirty days after the patient is sent a bill stating thetalnewafter
a determination concerning payment of the claim by aarémshas been made (with intereg
calculated at prime plus two percent). (ECF No. 14.) The motion to amend alsd mgakss
status under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23. At a status conferencéoberQd, 201,/the
motion was denied without prejudice; however, the court allouriha to take limited discovery
concerning whether Tahoe Fracture Clinic qualifees a hospital for purposes of NRS 449.75
(See Minutes at ECF No. 21.)

Urbinafiled a second motion to amend the complaint on December 29, 2017, but i
denied without prejudice because it was not accompanied by a proposed amended cor
(ECFNos. 27, 28.)

On January 9, 2018, Urbina filed a renewed motion to amend the complaint, along v
proposed amended complaint. (ECF Nos. 31, 31-1.) The proposed amended covaplaigin
brought pursuant to tHeEDCPA, but this time wabased on violation of NRS 449.7&% well as
NRS 99.040. (ECF No. 31-IThe proposegleading once agaasserted class status.

The court held a state®nference on January 17, 2018¢gMinutes at ECF No. 36.) At
that time, Urbina’s counsel represented that she was abandoning her clairanbatFracture
Clinic was a hospital, and as sutter claims insofar as they were premised on a violation
NRS449.757were being dismissedn light of this, thecourt directed Urbina to filerether
renewed motion to amend to reflect the status of her claims. The court alssdddrgnathat
class relief appeared to be premating, Urbinacould seek leave to amend to assert d¢ssis
at a later date, if appropriate.

Urbinafiled her Second Renewed Motion to Amend Complaint Rraposed=AC on
January 19, 2018. (ECF No. 37.) In the proposed RA@Gina aserts violations of the FDCPA
15 U.S.C. 81692e(2) (false representatiohamount of debt)g 1692e(5)(threat to take action tha

cannot legally be takend,1692e(10) (false representation or deceptive means to collect debt
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8 1692f(1) (collection of unauthorized charge). All four claims are predicated on NB&ged
violation of NRS 99.040.

Urbinaargues that her account with Tahoe Fracture Clinic was a “book accouridt as t

term is defined in NRS 99.040, and book accounts are excluded from being authorized to
interest unless the account has been settletthe motion to amend and proposed FAhina
claims she did not “settle” the account, but failed to pay it. Urhgsats that under NRS 99.040
as well ascase law from the Nevada Supreme Court, interest may only be assessethah
contract provides definite sum of interest, stat@owthe valuds to be calculatedr the value is
reasonably ascertainable. She further contends that the Nevada Supreme CGoled hiaat only
a trial court can determine at trial the date from whickyadgment interest is assessed. To supp
her claims against NBRJrbinarelies onCruz v. International Collection Corp., 673 F.3d 991
(9th Cir. 2012), which found a collection agency contravened the FDCPA becausdetvdiRS
649.375 (discussddfra).

In its response, NBF argues that it was dealing with a settled book account; €&hetefor

properly proceeded with attempting to collect interest pursuant to NRS 99.040(1)(B).
contends that interest on the book account could be charged from the waicbrihe balance
was ascertained, which it claims was after all payments by insurance amd bdid been

deducted. It notes that Tahoe FractGtmic sent a “Final Notice” to Urbina on December 1

char

NB
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2016, setting forth the balance due. NBF also arthadghe cases Urbina relies on are inappogite

because none addressed whether interest could be assessed under NRS 99.040(1)(b).
Insofar as Urbina claims that NBF violated NRS 649.375, NBF contends

NRS649.375(2)(b) allows a collection agency tdlex or attempt to collect interest by adding

to the principal of the debt when it is described as such in the first written comtiamw#h the

debtor. NBF argues that it was authorized by NRS 99.404 to add interest, and délsenbierest

that

~—+

being charged in addition to the principal in its first and only communication with Urbing on

January 5, 2017.
I
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With its response, NBF submits the declaration of Mary Hobbs. (ECF No. 38.at
Ms. Hobbs states that Urbina’s account was assigned by Tahoe Fracture t€lINBC on
January4, 2017. The principal amount of $614.52 did not include interest, but at that point, T
Fracture Clinic had credited all payments made by Urbina prior to tiggassnt. Tahoe Fracturg
Clinic’s billing statement of Septeber 23, 2016, credited Urbina with four $30 payments mg
on February 26, 2016, March 31, 2016, April 29, 2016, and August 12, 2016. The “Final N¢
sent to Urbina by Tahoe Fracture on December 16, 2016, indicated a principal bakgibé 52.
(ECF No. 38 at 10.) Ms. Hobbs goes on to state that NBF calculated interest pursua
NRS99.040(1)(b) because the balance on the account had been fully ascertained afteapg
of payments by Urbina or her insurance carrier. She indicates that imasesalculated from the

date of the last payment, August 12, 2016. NBF then mailed a single noticerta bimhlanuar$,

2017, demanding payment of the principal balance of $614.52, plus $29.07 in interest. (EC

38 at 12.)

In her reply, Urbina pois out that in its answer, NBF stated that it calculated interest f
February 26, 2016 to January 5, 2017, pursuant to NRS 99.040, at 5.5% in 2016 and 5.
2017. Now, Ms. Hobbs states in her declaration that interest was calculated fronmetbétaat

last payment made by Urbina on August 12, 2016. Urbina posits that this cannot be cor

interest is calculated from February 26, 2016, as NBF claimed in its answer to gimalofi

complaint, the amount of interest between February 26, 2016 and January 5, 2017, at th
rates of 5.5% in 2016 and 5.75% in 2017, amounts to roughly $29.07 (the amount of intereg
claimed it was entitled to in the January 5, 2017 nptf@a the other hand, Urbina contends th
if interest was calculated from August 12, 2016, in order to reach $29.07 in inter&styddB
either charging a higher, illegal rate of interest, or it did not actually ctdcinlizzrest from that
date Urbina argues that even if NBF was authorized by NRS 99.040 to assess iritdréstot

clearly descbe it to her as such in the notice as required by NRS 649.375(2)(b). She conten
there should have been an explanation or citation to a statute to show what authoriz
assessment of interest and how it was calculated.
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[I. LEGAL STANDARD

“A party may amend its pleading once as a matter of course within: (A) 21 dewys
serving it, or (B) if the pleading is one to which a responsive pleading is required,2aftkay
service of a responsive pleading or 21 days after service of a motionRuldek2(b), (e), or (f),
whichever is earlier.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(1)(A), (B). Otherwise, a party see&tthe opposing
party’swritten consent or leave of court to amend a pleading. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2)J)Hara
was required to seek leaveamend.

“The court should freely give leave when justice so requires.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(4

Leave to amend need not be given where amendment: “(1) prejudices the opposing party;

sought in bad faith; (3) produces an undue delay in litigatiof)as futile.” Amerisource Bergen
Corp. v. Dialysist West, Inc., 465 F.3d 946, 951 (9th Cir. 2006) (citation omitted).
1. DISCUSSION

As indicated above, leave to amend may be denied if the proposed amendmentas f
would be subject to dismiss&arrico v. City & County of San Francisco, 656 F.3d 1002, 1008
(9th Cir. 2011). The court will therefore review whethdrbina states colorable claims for
violation of the FDCP/Aso that she may procewdth the FAC, or whether amendment would b
futile.

NRS 99.040 provides, in relevant part:

99.040. Interest rate when not fixed by express contract for certain types of
transactions

1. When there is no express contract in writing fixing a different rate otstie
interest must be allowed at a ratau@lgto the prime rate at the largest bank in
Nevada, as ascertained by the Commissioner of Financial Institutionsyuamylha

or July 1, as the case may be, immediately preceding the date of thettoansac
plus 2 percent, upon all money from the time it becomes due, in the following cases:
(a) Upon contracts, express or implied, other than book accounts.

(b) Upon the settlement of book or store accounts from the day on which the balance
is ascertained.

The rate must be adjusted accordingly on dactuary 1 and July 1 thereafter until
the judgment is satisfied.

Subsection 3 of NRS 99.040 defines a “book account.” From the briefing, it appear

the parties agree that Urbina’s account with Tahoe Fracture Clinic was a baoktacthe

-5-

af

) (2)
()

utile

11%




© 00 N oo o b~ w NP

N NN DN DN DN N NDN R P RB B B B B R R
0w ~N o 00~ W N RFP O © 0 N O 01~ W N R O

guestion however, is whether the book account was settled so as to authorize the agsefss
interest under NRS 99.040(1)(b), and if so, whether NBF properly calculated interest

In her reply brief, Urbina does not directly refute NBF’s claim that the acemstettled
on the date the balance was ascertained. She does argue, though, that NBF eithieddakeuest
from the wrong starting date (i.e., from a date before the balance wasiastesd the account
was not settled), or if it calculated interésim the date of thiast payment (August 12, 2016
when Tahoe Fracture Clinic sent its “Final Notice” setting forth the flmelance owed
(Decembed 6, 2016), then to get to the proffered accrued interest of $29.07 it had to havg
charging a higér, illegal rate of interest than the agreed legal rate of 5.5% in 2016 and 5.7}
2017.

Urbina points ou&a contradiction in NBF’s answer, which claimed that it calculated inte
from February 26, 2016, and the declaration of Ms. Hobbs, which ciaierest was calculated
from the date of Urbina’s last payment on August 12, 20ttinarepresents that to get to $29.0
in interest from August 12, 2016 to January 5, 2017, NBF would have had to have applied &
higher, illegal interest rate.

As the court views it, therare questionsegardingwhether and when Urbina’s accour
with Tahoe Fracture Clinic became settled, and when NBF was permitteditodssgssing
interest. NRS 99.040(Iprovidesinterest may be calculated “upon all money from thestim
becomes due.” The parties do not specifically address when the money became du@pehish
to be relevanin light of the fact that there were multiple services provided baseduttiple
contracs to provide services.

Urbinaalso asserts thatB¥ violated NRS 649.375, which discusses practices prohib

by collection agencies. It provides, in relevant part, that a collectionyagkalt not:
2. Collect or attempt to collect any interest, charge, fee or expense incideh&al to
principal obligation unless:
(&) Any such interest, charge, fee or expense as authorized by law or as agreed to
by the parties has been added to the principal of the debt by the creditor before
receipt of the item of collection;
(b) Any such interest, charge, fee or expense as authorized by law or as agreed to
by the parties has been added to the principal of the debt by the collection agency
and described as such in the first written communication with the debtor; or
(c) The interest, charge, fee or expense has been judicially determinaexpass pr
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and legally due from and chargeable against the debtor.

Urbina asserts that the assessment of interest was not authorized bpdave interest
was not judicially determined; therefore, she contends NBF attempted tot aotlest in
violation of NRS 649.375(2F5he relies oruzv. International Collection Corporation, 673 F.3d
991 (9th Cir. 2012) to support her position.

NBF, on the other handgsserts that it was authorized to collect interest pursuant to

NRS 99.040 and properly added interest to the principal balamoerNRS 649.3752(b), and it
was described as such in its first and only communication with Urbina.

In her reply, Urbina maintains that interest was not authorized, and even if ith@as
contendshatit was not “described as such” in NBF's January 5, 2017 notice, which did not ¢
statute or otherwise explain why interest was authorized and how it wakatedc

First, Cruz is not dispositivehere In that case, Cruz wrote checks to Harrdkéno that
bounced, and Harrah’s subsequently assigned #wa ¢b a collection agency, ICOGCC sent
multiple demand letters for paymeaepresentingCruz was responsible for paying various item
including the principal balance, accrued interest, stgtuiees for returned checks based ¢
California law,and treble damage€ruz, on two occasions, sent letters back stating that the
was disputed and refused to pay. The Ninth Circaiicludedthat under Nevada law, a deb
collector could not colledhterest or fees unless the interest or fees were added to the princig
the creditor before the debt collector received the item of collection, 8ifRt§ 649.375(2)(a). It
found no evidence that Harrah’s had added the interest or fees prior to assigning theCebt
As such, it found ICC’s action to be false and misleading in violation of the FDCR#soIt
discussed a provision of the FDCPA (not applicable here) which protilitacting a debtor who
has notified the collector in writing that tdebtor refuses to pay the debt.

It is not entirely clear why, buruz does not discuss the ability of a collection agency
collect interest under NRS 649.375(2)(b), when assessing interest is adhuyrilaw or agreed
to by the parties, and is described as such in the first written communicatiohewtéltor. This
might have been because NRS 649.375(2)(b) could not apply because ICC did not utili

correct state’s law in describing the amount it claimed it was owed; therdferastessment
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interest would not have been authorized under the law profféieck NBF asserts that it properl
attempted to collect interest under NRS 649.375(2{h)z is not on point.

Turning back to this caséhe FAC also presents an isgegarding whats required by
NRS 649.375(2)(b)Does NRS 649.375(2)(b) require the collection agency to set forth
explanation or cite a statute describing what authorized the assessmemest,iatel how it was
calculated, as Urbina contends? @oes it simply reaire the collection agency to clearly set forf]
the principal and interest sought, as NBF contends?

In sum, thecourt finds that Urbina states colorable claims for relief under the FOGP
the proposed FAGs there are questions about whether NBF was authorized to assess i
under NRS 99.040(1)(b), and what is required by NRS 649.375(2)(b). Thetefwe to amend
is granted.

V. CONCLUSION
(1) Urbina’sSecond Renewed Motion to Amend Complaint (ECF No. 3GRANTED;
(2) The Clerk shalEILE the FAC (ECF No. 37 at 10-16&nd

(3) NBF shallElLE/SERVE its answer or other responsive pleading wiirDAY S of
the date of this Order.

The court will sel case management conference to discuss amended discovery deg
and other scheduling deadlines.

IT 1SSO ORDERED.

DATED: February 14, 2018.
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WILLIAM G. COBB
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE




